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This appeal arises from an action for declaration of title filed- in the 
District Court of Anuradhapura by the petitioner - respondent- 
respondents, (Respodents) who claimed title to a four acre land named 
“Paluguhakumbara” descibed in the schedule to the joint petition filed 
by the respondents. The Respondents sought a declaration of title in 
their favour and a permanent injunction to restrain the Appellants 
and their servants or agent from disturbing the Respondents and their 
agents, workers, servants etc. from working on the paddy field.

The defendant -appellants - appellants (Appellants) disputed the title 
of the Respondents and attempted to prevent the Respondents and 
cultivators and servants or workers from working on the paddy fields 
which form part of the land in question. It is noteworthy to mention
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that neither the Respondents nor the Appellants had sought any order 
of ejectment in their respective petition and answer.

In the District Court, the Learned District Judge entered the judg­
ment in favour of the Respondents. By its judgment dated 1.12.2004, 
the Court of Appeal has affirmed the decision of the District Court, 
observing that the land claimed by the dependents (defendant- appellants - 
appellants) is the same land which is described in the schedule to the 
plaint (petition).

The Supreme Court granted special leave to appeal on the following 
questions.

1. (a) Is the power of Attorney produced marked P7 proved ?

(b) Does the Deed produced marked PI operate to convey the title 
of Mohideen Abdul Cader, to the Respondents?

(c) If not, was the Court of Appeal err in holding that the 
Learned District Judge has correctly arrived at the finding that 
the Respondents has established title to the subject matter of 
the action?

2. Did the Court of Appeal err in failing to consider that the Learned 
District Judge had not duly evaluated the evidence on the question 
of prescription?

3. Has the issue regarding the validity of the Power of Attorney marked 
P7 and the deed produced marked PI, been raised for the first time 
in the Supreme Court at the stage of application for leave?

4. Are the Appellants entitled to take up the said issue at the stage of 
application for Special Leave to Appeal?

5. Is it mandatory to read the documents in evidence of the Respon­
dents at the conclusion of the trial?

Held

(1) Applying the test of proof of a document that was not required by 
law to be attested, as there was no prima-facie evidence to prove its 
authenticity, the question of its admissibility did not even arise.



Jamaldeen Abdul Latheef and v. Abdul Majeed mohamed mansoor and another
SC (Saleem Marsoof, J.) 335

(2) There is no provisions in the Civil Procedure Code that mandates 
the reading in of the marked documents at the close of a case of 
a particular parly. However, the learned and experience Counsel 
who appeared in the original Civil Courts in Civil cases from time 
immemorial developed such a practice, which has received the 
recognition of Sri Lankan Courts.

Saleem Marsoof, J. cited with approval the following passage o f 
Samarakoon, C.J., in Sri Lanka Ports Authority and another vs. 
Jugolinija - Boat East 18 at 23 to 24.

“if  no objection to any particular marked documents is taken when 
at the close o f a case documents are read in evidence” they are 
evidence for all purposes o f law”

(3) It is trite law that the identity of the property with respect to which 
a vindicatory action is instituted is a fundamental to the success 
of the action as the proof of the ownership (dominion) of the owner 
(dominus).

Where the property sought to be vindicated consists of a land, the 
land sought to be vindicated must be identified by reference to a 
survey plan or other equally expeditions method.

(4) In a rei vindicatio action, it is not necessary to consider whether 
the defendant has any title or right to possession, where the 
plaintiff has failed to establish his title to the land sought to be 
vindicated, the action ought to be dismissed without more.

(5) It is trite law that even an owner with no more than bare paper 
title (nuda proprietas) who has never enjoyed possession could 
lawfully vindicate his property subject to any lawful defense such 
as prescription. Nor would the failure to pray ejectment of the 
appellants (defendant) affect the maintainability of the action for 
declaration of title.

An important feature of the action rei vindicatio is that it has to 
necessarily fail if the plaintiff cannot clearly establish his title.

(6) Where an instrument is required by law to be attested, before 
a notary, so is a Power of Attorney; and at least one attesting
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witness thereof should have been called for the purpose of proving 
its execution.

The witnesses who were present at the time deed, last will or other 
instrument was executed are attesting witnesses competent to 
testify, and even the notary public before whom it was executed 
is deemed to be an attesting witness if he knew the executants 
personally.

(7) When a document is marked subject to proof, it is essential that 
such document to be proved through witness testimony.

Per Saleem Marsoof, J,” ......  It is not always necessary today to
produce in court the original of a document on which he relies. 
However, non-production of the original document without any 
explanation as to why the original is not being produced, is 
certainly a matter for comment and may affect the weight to be 
attached to the evidence which is produced.”

(8) To succeed in an action rei vindicatio, the owner must prove on 
a balance of probabilities, not only his or her ownership in the 
property, but also that the property exists and is clearly identifi­
able. The identity of the land is fundamental for the purpose of 
attributing ownership, and for ordering ejectment.

(9) Bare answers to issues without reasons are not in compliance 
with the requirements of the provisions of Section 187 of the Civil 
Procedure Code and the evidence germane to each issue must be 
reviewed or examined by the trial judges who should evaluate and 
consider the totality of the evidence.

(10) The witnesses who were present at the time the deed, last will or 
other instrument was executed are attesting witnesses competent 
to testify, and even the notary public before whom it was executed 
is deemed to be an attesting witness if he knew executants 
personally.

(11) When a document is marked subject to proof, it is essential for 
the said document to be proved through witness testimony. The 
procedure for tendering a document in evidence in the course 
of witness testimony is dealt with in section 154 of the Civil 
Procedure Code.
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SALEEM MARSOOF, J.

This appeal arises from an action for declaration of 
title filed in the District Court of Anuradhapura in December 
1989 by the Petitioner-Respondent-Respondents (hereinafter 
referred to as “Respondents”), who claimed title to the four 
acre land named “Palugahakumbura” situated in Mahawela 
(Pahalabaage) in the Pandiyankulama village, in Nachcha 
Tulana of Ulagalla Korale in Hurulu Palata in Anuradhapura 
District in the North Central Province of Sri Lanka, more 
fully described in the schedule to the joint petition filed
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by them. They claimed title by virtue of the Deed bearing 
No. 6165 dated 9th February 1987 (PI) and attested by Lionel 
P. Dayananda, Notary Public. The said Deed was executed 
by one Ibrahim Lebbe Noor Lebbai, the purported Attorney 
for Meydeen Sadakku Mohideen Abdul Cader, under the 
Power of Attorney bearing No. 7598 dated 30th October 1981 
(P7), attested by S. M. M. Hamid Hassan, Advocate & Notary 
Public in the Ramanathapuram District in Tamil Nadu, India. 
The Respondents alleged that they had purchased the said 
property for a sum of Rs. 20,000/-, but the 1st and 2nd 
Defendant-Appellant-Appellants (hereinafter referred to as 
the “Appellants”) disputed their title and attempted to pre­
vent their ande cultivator from working on the said paddy 
land.The Respondents sought a declaration of title in their 
favour and a permanent injunction to restrain the Appellants 
and their servants or agents from disturbing the Respon­
dents, their ande cultivators and/or servants or agents from 
working on the paddy field which formed part of the said land. 
It is significant that the petition filed by the Respondents in 
the District Court did not contain a prayer for the ejectment 
of the Appellants or for damages.

In the joint answer filed in the District Court by the 
Appellants, it was expressly denied that they disturbed or 
obstructed the Respondent in the enjoyment of their land 
or cultivation carried out thereon. From the said answer it 
appears that while the 2nd Defendant-Appellant-Appellant did 
not make any claim to the land in question as owner, the 1st 
Defendant-Appellant-Appellant (hereinafter also referred to 
as the “ 1st Appellant”) laid claim to a land named “Nilaththu 
Patti Wayal” in extent 3 acres 2 roods and 26 perches, which 
was alleged to have been possessed without interruption by 
the predecessors-in-title to the said Appellant for a period 
exceeding fifty years. It is also stated therein that although the 
said property was gifted by the said Appellant to his wife Noor
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Nisa, he had continued to be in uninterrupted possession 
thereof. In their joint answer, the Appellants prayed that the 
action be dismissed, and a sum of Rs. 22,000/- be awarded 
as damages for the loss of 200 bushels of paddy, but they 
have not prayed for a declaration of title to the land claimed 
by them, or that they be placed in possession thereof.

Although, as already noted, neither the Respondents nor 
the Appellants had sought any order of ejectment in then- 
respective petition and answer, in paragraph 5 of the replica­
tion filed by the Respondents, it was averred as follows:

5. S s fS a x S x S a i  S S s i  aiS4&QtsdiOzsfO c j8 &  z g g d x  g®o-e6ca 

eaaocdza© es®  SiS  9 ® d J 3 ©  egzsJS 3S |® st 8 3 s a  ® » Q s l ,  

«a i® -d »@ a > d x © s i©  1989/90 ® »  aasisaca ea«;®3 dx- 33,000/- zs> q c a ® c a s f  

8 g 9  efi& tftsxi, © S  © ®  oi®4soQts><5i£>rsiO o x ® ^ » d ® d

C e3@ <^S «S @ c i e 3 «j® s i a ^ g d x  g®a-sSc3 esaSazsaa® qaz^Sca ® g s a  q>dj eat®  

zsasisacasa© e © S s a  q Q o e o a  © ca®casi d\. 33,000/- zs? SzrfSzsadiSzstecDzai 

epcazad © x£5® Q  oi@4a@!S><5iQofO s a g  zSSsisazrf e © © c a  3  epxzsa.

On the basis of the above averment, the Respondents have 
in payers (1) and (2) of the replication prayed for damages 
in a sum of Rs. 33,000/- for every cultivation season (zsasizsaca), 
until the quiet and peaceful possession of the land described 
in the schedule to the petition is restored to the Respondents. 
I quote below the relevant prayers (1) and (2) of the replication:

(1 ) © x ® - ^ d @ d  < g d e a  f fx S  e a »s a c a s i  ea® © ® ®  g£B q>c?Qo
© 5 ^  1989/90 ® ae i zsasisacs ea^®a dx. 33,000/- zs> ep(5a®cazsf S s fS s a d x S a i  

S S s i  eaaejSza©  esaa ® © s i ,  ® © s i ©  o i®4sbQ!s>6\S s J© ®<s©zsa ® @ sa  s a g  

S s i g S s i  e © o ® g s a  © g e a g

(2 ) sa©g, © x ® - ^ d ® d  C £3® d © 2n® ĉ  © «j® 25f § Q @ ®  eaa®233® ea®

zSdgd sQzsiSca ©xg^eadxSsia (3x®©Z5az5dx ea*® zszsisacazsQ® 
dx- 33,000/- ©xSsi oS£5sa epQa®ra BtsS€iiS)diQtsS®<s)si aiB-^QzsdiQsSO 
<3§>a®gsa @c©g.
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At the commencement of the trial, no admissions were 
recorded, and the following five issues were formulated by 
court, which revealed that there was a dispute regarding 
the identity of the corpus. Accordingly, on the application 
of the Respondents, court issued a commission on D. M. G. 
Dissanayake, Licensed Surveyor, to survey the land referred 
to in the schedule to the petition filed by the Respondents as 
well as the land described in the schedule to the answer filed 
by the Appellants, and report whether they were the same. 
After his Plan bearing No. 1176 dated 10th October 1990 and 
the accompanying report was furnished to court, at the 
instance of the Appellants, a further commission was issued 
on K. V. Somapala, Licensed Surveyor, to survey the land 
claimed by the two contending parties to the case, and his 
Plan No. 2025 dated 16.04.1991 was also filed of record. 
Thereafter, on 12.08.1991, the following further issues were 
framed by court, issues 6 , 7, 13 and 14 on the suggestion of 
learned Counsel for the Respondents, and issues 8 to 12 as 
suggested by learned Counsel for the Appellants

6. e3t@-docJ@C!? 6320 8- <5®. 8. fesoawcsza @0255255 23(255® erf
® t g ®  S o f e o ® ©  e 3 § d s )6 2356255 Qq ® 0 ®  o e o e o q j g d  <s>£>®

®0̂ ?

7. 0® s>Q® ot§i-do@s>di0 esao ®§g@cc? ®od  c,di®ts>diQtsSO S®3<;?

8. 3isSSts>di @®@ zagSQ ep̂ ag <|>£>® cpg. 50 ts>Q qdsss a»ec3a> 8® 

@zj)023>£)Sd egzslS §«; &®a)q?

9. 255® 2350<5 S@o 0253@2j5 S3 0Oo255 c30@25i Sdgeaae;
©eg© £)3®8q?
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10. Oi®43>Qts>C>i SSjsf SsfSsscJxOjsfO Ood-eS 2S®c3leDc32sl

Cola ©xS®®af StsJSjsdxQzsi S&&S Bcoo 2558253 q$ ®S® £$gd 
e3®gd«S®c32sf ©255300 g®ciq?

11. oi® 4m($®Qisi eSh  Sg)255 Bods& jS®csJcdc3 ®@® ffSmd-cScs ©Szsi 
8gdx®o 50id 8 ®S$?

12. ®@® 10 eseo 11 Caro Ses^zDoOzrf® SsrfSzsdxQzrf®^ BoSaQ 8 gqsdi 

(2x®32rf@2rf 255® C25izS3d®C325l ® d e 3 cpe3®3 ©25JS2s>cJxS ffOtad

0023 2Dx2s5®25l <q?

oiSSd^atsi

13. ex@̂ Sg2sdxS25$@crf gS c23?2ad®d 5 ®08 ®eS<;®d 9233d 
SsSStsdiBtsf 88zd exfS^§g2S>dx© «p<38 2®§dx g®3«Sc3 0x8?
63200 255 ®Qe3 C^sJS 8^®2S? 60255 ® o Q d  1989/90 ®20D 23525̂25503 

632JS53 dx- 33,000/- 23? £p(33K>C32sf SgS  £pxd®25^?

14. ox@-̂ 5@235dx02dQ «f8 8  ®@@ qG®® jS d gd  egzsiScs ex®®2» qsdx 

6308255 epeaeoo Oo®C32d ®ZS>363®«S ĝ Q2S? QX^O

On behalf of the Respondents, Abdul Majeed Mohamed 
Mansoor, the 1st Plaintiff-Respondent-Respondent, Mohomad 
Ibrahim Lebbai Noor Lebbai, the alleged Attorney under 
Power of Attorney bearing No. 7598 dated 30th Octo­
ber 1981 (P7), Vijitha Ellawala, Provincial Govi Jane Sewa 
Officer, Anuradhapura, D. M. G. Dissanayake, Licensed 
Surveyor, and Ranathunga Herath, Grama Seva Officer, 
Tulana, Nachchaduwa, testified at the trial. For the Appel­
lants, Jamaldeen Abdul Lathif, the 1st Defendant-Appellant- 
Appellant, Vidana Arachchige Premadasa, a cultivator in an 
adjoining paddy field, Ulludu Hawage Karunaratne, Registrar 
of Lands, Anuradhapura, and K. V. Somapala, Licensed 
Surveyor gave evidence.

On the conclusion of witness testimony, and after 
considering the submissions made by learned Counsel for
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the contending parties, on 5th October 1994 the learned 
District Judge entered judgement in favour of the Respondents, 
answering inter alia issues 6, 7 and 11 in the affirmative, and 
issues 8, 9, 10, 12 and 13 in the negative, with the answer to 
issue 14 being ”d\. 15,000 £T The essence of the decision of the 
learned District Judge is contained in the following passage 
of his judgement:-

E3x®-^§dG S320 S25fs§23dx <JÎ8£32rf 23d Cfx® Sc3g  £332sJ@ £320 @(^>23

egesSsfeosnSQ Sated®-®®0  zsd 6>i q ®£>@. epgs© Ssscs ©£&q>© ox@-^od®d 
©es©(̂ S)-sS@ci 63̂ 50zrf Ssso ©£&$© zoo @32323 ^£332330323 ®29Z33@orf 
©38233®© eŝ eosl Sascs Seizes ©2323? S8  Sd-eSc3 zsd®. epgag S®cs 
©efeg© eâ aoa ox®-̂ 3de 2sd cpx© ®dg©0 © epg© ox®-^Sd®d
£3x®-̂ §6 zs8x©2d 8 @Z3® QQ)3 CpxS S© Sd-SScS 23d®.

The final order embodied in the judgment of the learned 
District Judge, if my conjecture be correct, was for the 
ejectment of the Appellants from the land described in 
the schedule to the petition, presumably on the basis of a 
declaration of title to the said land in favour of the Respon­
dents, and damages in a sum of Rs. 15,000 until the quiet 
and peaceful possession of the land is delivered to the 
Respondents, with no order for costs, expressed by the learned 
District Judge in cryptic precision in the following manner:-

@® epzg© Ox®-̂ “Ctad zSdgd g)a&Sc3Z3? @® gzsf©3 2S2jf23C32sf @©2g®©2jf 
Ox- 15,000/- 23 ©25̂ 0325? 8®©23 3 © Szrfg 23d®. 23 g  003̂ 2̂  OX®^»dC 
£32023 0®23 £>&0 CpSfflE 23x23.

® ®  Cp2?}© £ 3 x @ ^ d @ d  S aS c sO  S z rfg  23d®. iSzrfg g2330BC3 £pxZ$©25$

23d2jf23.

By its judgment dated 1st December 2004, the Court of 
Appeal has affirmed the aforesaid decision of the District 
Court, observing that it is “abundantly clear that the land
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claimed by the Defendants (Defendant-Appellants-Appel- 
lants) is the same land which is described in the schedule to 
the plaint (petition)”. It is important to note that the Court of 
Appeal concluded as follows

Since this is an action for declaration of title it 
would be pertinent to consider the decision in Wan- 
igaratne vs. Juwanis Appuhamiy*1' where in the 
Supreme Court has held that, “in action rei vidicatio 
the Plaintiff must prove and establish his title”. This 
legal principle has been followed in our Courts right along. 
In the instant case the learned Judge has duly considered 
the un-contradicted evidence of the 1st Plaintiff in 
relation to acquisition of title and has arrived at the 
finding according to the deeds produced by the 1st 
Plaintiff, the Plaintiffs had acquired title to the subject 
matter. I conclude that this is a correct finding on the 
evidence which had been available before the District 
Court.

This Court has granted special leave to appeal on several 
substantial questions of law, but before setting out these 
questions, it may be useful to mention that in upholding the 
title of the Respondents to the land described in the sched­
ule to the petition, the District Court and Court of Appeal 
relied on Deed No. 6165 dated 9th February 1987 (PI) and 
the prior deeds respectively bearing Deed No. 6024 dated 29th 
February 1944 (P3), Deed No. 6121 dated 12th May 1944 
(P4), Deed No. 6468 dated 10th December 1944 (P5) and Deed 
No. 7167 dated 8th August 1946 (P6) produced in evidence, 
which admittedly establish that the ownership of the aforesaid 
four acre land had been transmitted from the original owner 
Alavapillei Sanarapillai through some intermediate trans­
ferees to one Muhammad Mohideen Cader Saibu Mohideen



Sadakku (hereinafter referred to as Sadakku), who died in 
1948. The courts below also relied on the Power of Attorney 
bearing No. 7598 (P7) dated 30th October 1981, purported to 
have been executed by Sadakku’s son Mohideen Abdul Cader 
appointing one Mohomed Ibrahim Lebbai Noor Lebbai as his 
Attorney with power to look after and to alienate the land 
described in the schedule to the petition. It is by virtue to the 
power alleged to have been vested in him by the said Power of 
Attorney that the said Noor Lebbai purported to transfer by 
Deed No. 6165 (PI) dated 9th February 1987 and attested by 
Lionel P Dayananda, Notary Public, the entirety of the land 
described in the schedule to the petition to the Respondents 
Abdul Majeed Mohomed Mansoor and Abdul Majee Abdul 
Nizar.

The substantial questions on the basis of which special 
leave to appeal has been granted by this Court, are set out 
below:-

1. (a) Is the Power of attorney produced marked P7
proved?

(b) Does the Deed produced marked P I operate to 
convey the title of Mohideen Abdul Cader, to the 
Respondents?

(c) If not, was the Court of Appeal in error in holding that 
the Learned District Judge had correctly arrived at 
the finding that the Respondents had established title 
to the subject matter of the action?

2. Did the Court of Appeal err in failing to consider that 
the Learned District Judge had not duly evaluated the 
evidence on the question of prescription?
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At the instance of W. Dayaratne, P.C., who appeared for 
the Respondents the following additional questions were also 
formulated for the consideration of this Court, which are set 
out below:-

3. Has the issue regarding the validity of the Power of 
Attorney marked P7 and the deed produced marked PI, 
been raised for the first time in the Supreme Court at the 
stage of application for leave?

4. Are the Appellants entitled to take up the said issue at 
the stage of application for Special Leave to Appeal?

5. Is it mandatory to read the documents in evidence of the 
Respondents at the conclusion of the trial?

Certain Preliminary Matters

Before dealing with the substantive questions on which 
special leave to appeal has been granted by this Court, all of 
which relate to the title of the contending parties to the land 
described in the schedule to the petition of the Respondents, 
it is necessary to dispose of the two preliminary questions 3 
and 4 raised by learned President’s Counsel for the Respon­
dents when special leave was granted. These questions focus 
on the alleged belatedness in taking up the positions covered 
by questions 1(a) and (b) above.

Mr. Dayaratne, has strenuously contended that the 
aforesaid questions relating to “the validity of the Power of 
Attorney marked P7 and the deed produced marked P I”, 
have been raised for the first time in the Supreme Court 
at the stage of application for special leave, and that these 
being mixed questions of law and fact, they cannot be raised 
for the first time on appeal. He has invited our attention 
to the decision of a Five Judge Bench of this Court in
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Rev. Pallegama Gnanarathana v. Rev. Galkiriyagama Soratha(2) 
in which is was held that a question which is not a pure 
question of law, but a mixed question of fact and law, cannot 
be taken up for the first time on appeal, and stressed that the 
apex court, which does not have the benefit of the findings 
and reasoning of a lower court, should not be compelled to 
go into a question of fact or mixed question of fact and law, 
raised for the first time on appeal.

Mr. Faisz Mustapha, PC., did not contest the correctness of 
the proposition of law urged by Mr. Dayaratne, but submitted 
that that the questions raised are pure questions of law, and 
that in any event, they had arisen for consideration in the 
District Court itself. In this connection, it is necessary to 
observe at the outset that question 1(a) and (b) on which 
special leave to appeal has been granted in this case, do not 
raise the question of validity of the Power of Attorney marked 
P7 and the deed produced marked P I as stated in question 3, 
but the first of these deals with the proof o f the said Power of 
Attorney and second with the construction and legal implica­
tions of the Deed marked PI. It is also necessary to observe 
that these questions arise from the very first issue raised at 
the trial, which was as follows

1. co@e?-s5S)®ci §e&ad ©smQ epiS <g>0 ®
2 &0 10 ©el^cszsf gzsod qQS&Bq?

It is this issue which was subsequently reformulated as 
issues 6 and 7 (quoted in full earlier in this judgment) in the 
light of the plans and reports furnished by the commissioned 
surveyors.

It is noteworthy that paragraphs 2 to 10 of the petition 
filed by the Respondents in this case narrate the alleged chain 
of title of the Respondents, all of which have been denied in
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the Answer of the Appellants, and in particular paragraph 
7 refers to the Power of Attorney P7 and paragraph 8  to the 
Deed PI. Furthermore, the Power of Attorney P7 was marked 
“subject to proof”, and Mr. Mustapha, has stressed that it 
has never been proved, and that therefore the Deed PI could 
not have conveyed any title to the Respondents. He has sub­
mitted further that the action from which this appeal arises, 
being an action for declaration of title which has been treated 
by both the District Court and the Court of Appeal as a rei 
vindicatio action, the onus was clearly on the Respondents 
to prove the aforesaid instruments and demonstrate how the 
Respondents derived title to the land described in the schedule 
to the petition. Mr. Dayaratne, has contended that an action 
for declaration of title is distinguishable from a rei vindicatio 
action required stricter standards of proof, and that the 
instant case is only an action for declaration of title in which 
the Respondents would succeed if the Appellants cannot 
establish a stronger title or a right to possess.

A curious feature of this case is that it commenced as an 
action for declaration of title in which ejectment was not prayed 
for by either of the contending parties in their initial plead­
ings, and a new prayer was introduced into the replication 
without any express prayer for ejectment for additional relief by 
way of damages in a sum of Rs. 33,000/- for every cultivation 
season (zsstoxa) until the quiet and peaceful possession of 
the land described in the schedule to the petition is restored 
to the Respondents. At the trial, no issue was formulated 
which could justify an order for ejectment, but the learned 
District Judge by his judgement dated 5th October 1994 ordered 
ejectment without any express declaration of title in 
favour of the Respondents. After the Appellants lodged their 
appeal to the Court of Appeal, the District Court proceeded to 
issue writ pending appeal for the ejectment of the Appellants
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from the land described in the schedule to the petition, which 
order and the subsequent orders reissuing writ of possession 
made by the District Court, have been stayed by the Court 
of Appeal from time to time in connected revisionaiy and 
appellate proceedings.

The affinity between the action for declaration of title 
and an action rei vindicatio has been considered in several 
landmark decisions in Sri Lanka and South Africa, which 
seem to suggest that they are both essentially actions for the 
assertion of ownership, and that the differences that have 
been noted in decisions such as Le Mesurier v. Attorney 
Generate are differences without any real distinction. In 
the aforementioned case, Lawrie, J., at 74 compared an 
action for the recovery of land in the possession of the Crown 
to the English prerogative remedy of petition of rights, and 
observed that -

I call the action one for declaration of title which, I take 
it, is not the same as an action rei vindicatio.

Similary, in Pathirana v. Juyasundard4) where a plaintiff 
used an over-holdig lessee by attornment for ejectment, 
and upon the defendant pleading that the land was 
sold to him by its real owner who was not one of the 
lessors, the plaintiff moved to amend the plaint to add a prayer 
for declaration of title, in refusing such relief in circumstances 
where this could prejudice the claim of the defendant to 
prescriptive title, Gratiaen, J., observed at 173 that -

A decree for a declaration of title may, of course, be 
obtained by way of additional relief either in a rei vindicatio 
action proper (which is in truth an action in rem) or in a 
lessor’s action against the over-holding tenant (which is an
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action in personam). But, in the former case, the declara­
tion is based on proof of ownership; in the latter, on proof of 
contractual relationship which forbids a denial that the 
lessor is the true owner.

The above quoted dictum does not, of course, mean that 
a lessor or landlord is confined to the contractual remedy 
against an over-holding lessee or tenant or that he cannot 
sue in rem to vindicate his title and recover possession. All 
it means is that if he chooses the latter remedy, he cannot 
succeed just because the over-holding lessee or tenant fails 
to prove his right to possess, or simply rely on the rule of 
estoppel that a tenant cannot contest the title of his landlord, 
and must be able to establish his title against the whole 
world.

Clearly, the action for declaration of title is the modem 
manifestation of the ancient vindicatory action (mndicatio rei), 
which had its origins in Roman Law. The actio rei uindicatio 
is essentially an action in rem for the recovery of property, as 
opposed to a mere action in personam, founded on a contract 
or other obligation and directed against the defendant or 
defendants personally, wherein it is sought to enforce a mere 
personal right (in personam), The uindicatio form of action 
had its origin in the legis actio procedure which symbolized 
the claiming of a corporeal thing (res) as property by laying 
the hand on it, and by using solemn words, together with the 
touching of the thing with the spear or wand, showing how dis­
tinctly the early Romans had conceived the idea of individual 
ownership of property. As Johannes Voet explains in his 
Commentary on the Pandects (6.1.1) “to vindicate is typically 
to claim for oneself a right in re. All actions in rem are called 
vindications, as opposed to personal actions or conductions.”
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Voet also observes that -

From the right of ownership springs the vindication of a 
thing, that is to say, an action in rem by which we sue for 
a thing which is ours but in the possession of another. 
(Pandects 6.1.2)

It is in this sense that the rei vindicatio action is often 
distinguished from “actions of an analogous nature” (per 
Withers, J., in Allis Appu v. Edris Hamxf5) at page 93) for 
the declaration of title combined with ejectment of a person 
who is related to the plaintiff by some legal obligation 
(obligatio) arising from contract or otherwise, such as an 
over-holding tenant (Pathirana v. Jayasundara (supra) or 
an individual who had ousted the plaintiff form possession 
(Mudalikamy v. Appuhamf6] and Rawter v. Rossl7) 3 SCC 
145), proof of which circumstances would give rise to a 
presumption of title in favour of the plaintiff obviating the 
need for him to establish title aganist the whole world (in rem) 
in such special contexts. These are cases which give effect to 
special evidentiary principles, such as the rule that the tenant 
is precluded from contesting the title of his landlord or a person 
who is unlawfully ousted from possession is entitled to a 
rebuttable presumption of title in his favour. Burnside CJ., has 
explained the latter principle in Mudalihamy v. Appuhamy 
(supra) in the following manner -

Now, prima facie, the plaintiff having been in possession, 
he was entitled to keep the property against the whole 
world but the rightful owner, and if the defendant claimed 
to be that owner, the burden of proving his title rested on 
him, and the plaintiff might have contented himself with 
proving his de facto possession at the time of the ouster.
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The action from which this appeal arises is not one 
falling within these special categories, as admittedly, the 
Respondents had absolutely no contractual nexus with 
the Appellants, nor had they at any time enjoyed pos­
session of the land in question. Of course, this is not a 
circumstance that would deprive the Respondents to this 
appeal from the right to maintain a vindicatoiy action, 
as it is trite law in this country since the decisions of the 
Supreme Court in Punchi Hamy v. Amolisf81 and Allis 
Appu v. Edris Ham{9) that even an owner with no more 
than bare paper title (nuda proprientas) who has never 
enjoyed possession could lawfully vindicate his property 
subject to any lawful defence such as prescription. Nor would the 
failure to pray for the ejectment of the Appellants (an omission 
which has been supplied by the learned District Judge by his 
decision) affect the maintainability of the action for declaration 
of title (which declaration the learned District Judge has not 
granted expressly, although he may have done so by way of 
implication) or change the complexion of the case, which is 
essentially an actio rei vindicatio. The District Court and Court 
of Appeal, as has been seen, in their respective judgments 
have correctly assumed that the action from which this 
appeal arises is an actio rei vindicatio. They have also awarded 
the Respondents relief by way of ejectment despite the 
absence of a prayer for ejectment in their petition or even 
in their replication, the correctness of which award is hotly 
contested by the Appellants.

An important feature of the actio rei vindicatio is that it 
has to necessarily fail if the plaintiff cannot clearly establish 
his title. Wille’s Principles o f South African Laws (9th Edition - 
2007) at pages 539-540 succinctly sets out the essentials of 
the rei vindicatio action in the following manner:-
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To succeed with the rei vindicatio, the owner must prove on 
a balance of probabilities, first, his or her ownership in the 
property. Secondly, the property must exist, be clearly iden­
tifiable and must not have been destroyed or consumed. 
Thirdly, the defendant must be in possession or detention 
of the thing at the moment the action is instituted. The 
rationale is to ensure that the defendant is in a position to 
comply with an order for restoration, (emphasis added).

In Abeykoon Hamine v. Appuhamt/l0), Dias, SPJ. quoted 
with approval, the decision of a Bench of our judges in De 
Silva v. Goonetilekdn) where Macdonell, C.J., had occasion to 
observe that -

There is abundant authority that a party claiming a 
declaration of title must have title himself. “To bring 
the action rei vindication plaintiff must have ownership
actually vested In him” - 1 Nathan p. 362, S. 593 .........
This action arises from the right of dominium ..........The
authorities unite in holding that plaintiff must show title 
to the corpus in dispute, and that if he cannot, the action 
will not lie”.

In Dharmadasa v. Jayasena(l2> De Silva, C.J/. equated 
an action for declaration of title with the rei vindicatio action, 
and at 330 of his judgement quoted with approval the dictum 
of Heart, J., in Wanigaratne v. Juwanis Appuhamy(13), for the 
proposition that the burden is on the plaintiff in a rei vindica­
tio action to clearly establish his title to the corpus, echoing 
the following words of Withers, J., in the old case of Allis Appu 
v. Endris Hamy (supra) at 93 -

In my opinion, if the plaintiff is not entitled to revindicate 
his property, he is not entitled to a declration of title,........
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If he cannot compel restoration, which is the object of a 
rei mndicatio, I do not see how he can have a declaration 
of title. I can find no authority for splitting this action in 
this way in the Roman-Dutch Law books, or decisions of 
court governed by the Roman-Dutch Law.

As Ranasinghe, J., pointed out in Jinawathie v. 
Emalin Perera(14) at 142, a plaintiff to a rei vindicatio 
action “can and must succeed only on the strength of his 
own title, and not upon the weakness of the defence.” In 
Wanigaratne v. Juwanis Appuhamy, (supra) at page 168, 
Heart, J., has stressed that “the defendant in a rei vindicatio 
action need not prove anything, still less his own title.” 
Accordingly, the burden is on the Respondents to this 
appeal to establish their title to the land described in the 
schedule to their petition, and they can only succeed by showing 
that Mohamed Ibrahim Lebbai Noor Lebbai had the power 
and authority to convey the title (dominium) of the said land 
to the Respondents by executing Deed No. 6165 (PI). It is for 
this purpose vital to prove the Power of Attorney marked P7 
by which, it is claimed, that Sadakku’s son Mohideen Abdul 
Cader appointed Noor Lebbai as Attorney for executing the 
Deed marked PI and that the said deed operated to convey 
the alleged title of Mohideen Abdul Cader to the Respondents. 
These were clearly not matters raised for the first time at the 
stage of grant of special leave to appeal, and ought to have 
engaged the attention of the learned District Judge in view of 
issue 1, 6 and 7 framed at the commencement of the trial.

For the aforesaid reasons, I am of the opinion that 
substantive questions 3 and 4 should be answered in 
favour of the Appellants. Accordingly, I answer question 3 in 
the negative and question 4 in the affirmative, and hold that
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substantive questions 1(a) and (b) have to be addressed in 
determining this appeal.

Proof o f the Power o f Attorney

Substantive Question 1(a) on which special leave has 
been granted by this Court, is whether the Power of Attorney 
marked P7 has been duly proved. As already noted, this 
question is of extreme importance for establishing the chain 
of title of the Respondents, as it is by virtue of the power 
vested in him by the said power of attorney that the Attorney 
named therein, Noor Lebbai, purported to execute the 
Deed marked PI, by which the Respondets claimed to have 
derived their title to the land described in the schedule to the 
petition. In this connection, it is relevant to note that when 
the said Power of Attorney was first mentioned in the course 
of his testimony on 12th August 1991 by the 1st Petitioner- 
Respondent-Respondent, Abdul Majeed Mahamed Mansoor, 
the tender in evidence of a photocopy of the said power of 
attorney was objected to by learned Counsel for the Appellants, 
and the said photocopy was marked subject to proof.

When a document is marked subject to proof, it is essential 
for the said document to be proved through witness testimony. 
The procedure for tendering a document in evidence in the 
course of witness testimony is dealt with in Section 154 of the 
Civil Procedure Code, and what is most relevant to this case 
is the first sentence of Section 154 (1), which provided that -

Every document or writing which a party intends to 
use as evidence against his opponent must be formally 
tendered by him in the course o f proving his case at the 
time when its contents or purport are first immediately 
spoken to by a witness.
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The explanation to this section is very useful in under­
standing this provision, and in particular understanding how 
a document marked subject to proof is to be proved. The said 
explanation is reproduced below, in full:-

I f  the opposing party does not, on the document being 
tendered in evidence, object to its being received, and if  the 
document is not such as is forbidden by law to be received 
in evidence, the court should admit it. If, however, on the 
document being tendered the opposing party objects to its 
being admitted in evidence, then commonly two questions 
arise for the court:-

Firstly whether the document is authentic - in other words, 
is what the party tendering it represents it to be; and

Secondly, whether, supposing it to be authentic, it 
constitutes legally admissible evidence as against the 
party who is sought to be affected by it.

The latter question in general is matter of argument 
only, but the first must be supported by such testimony as the 
party can adduce. If the court is of opinion that the testimony 
adduced for this purpose, developed and tested by cross- 
examination, makes out a prima facie case o f authenticity and 
it further of opinion that the authentic document is evidence 
admissible against the opposing party, then it should admit 
the document as before (emphasis added).

The question therefore is whether the authenticity and 
admissibility of the Power of Attorney (P7), which was marked 
subject to proof, has been established through subsequent 
testimony and analytical reasoning.
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In Sri Lanka, the rules for the proof o f documents are 
contained in Chapter 5 of the Evidence Ordinance No. 14 
of 1895, as subsequently amended. Of particular, relevance 
to the proof of the Power of Attorney in question are Section 
67 to 73 of the Evidence Ordinance. The Power of Attorney 
marked P7 is alleged to have been executed and attested 
in India, but the purported executant Mohamed Mohideen 
Abdul Cader, was not called to testify regarding its execution, 
nor was any attempt made to show that the signature of the 
purported executant appearing on P7 was that of Abdul Cader. 
Sections 68  to 71 of the Evidence Ordinance deal with the 
proof of documents which are required by law to be attested, 
while Section 67 and 72 of the Ordinance deal with the proof 
of documents which are not required by law to be attested. 
Section 68  of the Ordinance provided that -

I f  a document is required by law to be attested, it shall 
not be used as evidence until one attesting witness 
at least has been called fo r the purpose o f proving its 
execution, i f  there be an attesting witness alive, and 
subject to the process o f the court and capable o f giving 
evidence, (emphasis added).

Mr. Faisz Musthapha, P.C., has submitted on behalf of 
the Appellants that in terms of Section 2 of the Prevention of 
Frauds Ordinance No. 7 of 1840, as subsequently amended, 
any “sale, purchase, transfer, assignment, or mortgage of land 
or other immovable property” is of no force or avail in law un­
less the same is notarially attested. He has further submit­
ted that, just as much as Deed bearing No. 6165 dated 9th 
February 1987 (PI) was required by the aforesaid provision 
to be notarially attested, even the Power of Attorney (P7), by 
virtue of which Mohomad Ibrahim Lebbai Noor Lebbai, the 
executant of P I, purported to have the authority or power
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to make the same, was required by law to be attested. He 
based this submission on the premise that the conferment of 
authority or power to another to enter into any sale, purchase, 
transfer, assignment, or mortgage of land or other immovable 
property, was a contract or agreement for “establishing any 
security interest, or incumbrance affecting land” within 
Section 2 of Ordinance No. 7 of 1840, and was governed by 
the same formalities. It was Mr. Musthapha’s contention that 
just as much as the Deed marked PI was required by law to 
be attested, so was the Power of Attorney marked P7, and at 
least of attesting witness thereof should have been called for 
the purpose of proving its execution.

The question as to who is an attesting witness has been 
considered in several leading judgements of our courts, 
and the gist of the decisions such as Kirihandcr v. 
Ukkuwa{15) Somanather v. Sinnetambfi6i and Seneviratne 
v. MendiSl7) is that as a general rule, the witnesses 
who were present at the time the deed, last will or other 
instrument was executed are attesting witnesses compe­
tent to testify, and even the notary public before whom it 
was executed is deemed to be an attesting witness if  he 
knew the executants personally. However, it is also relevant 
to note that in Baronchy Appu v. Poidohamfl8), Hilda 
Jayasinghe v. Francis Samarawickrame ,19) and Samarawick- 
rema v. Jayasinghe and A n o th e r , it has been held that 
where the execution of such an instrument is challenged 
on the ground that it had been signed before it was written, 
and at least one of the attesting witnesses is alive, the 
evidence of the notary alone, even where he knew the 
executant, is not sufficient and at least one of the attesting 
witnesses should also be called to testify. Such stringent 
proof is insisted upon in view of the solemnity that is attached
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to such a document and the need to prevent fraud. The Power 
of Attorney marked P7 was purportedly executed in the 
Ramanathapuram District of Tamilnadu, India before B.M.M 
Hamid Hasan, Advocate & Notary Public. It is clear from 
the certification of the notary in the attestation clause of P7 
that the notary did not know the executants Abdul Cader 
personally and depended on the “information” given by the two 
attesting witnesses, namely M. Shayeed, son of Mohamed 
Asanalabai, and V. Ravindran, son of C. Velusamy, both 
of Ramanathapuram District, India, neither of whom were 
called to testify in proof of its execution, and no explana­
tion was given for the omission to do so. There was also no 
evidence in regard to whether or not the aforesaid power 
of attorney was registered in India in terms of the Indian 
Registration Act, 1908, and it is clear from the testimony 
of Ulludu Hawage Karunaratne, Registrar of Lands, 
Anuradhapura, that the said power of attorney was not 
registered in Sri Lanka nor was it tendered to the Registry with 
the second copy of the Deed marked PI for registration. There 
is also no evidence to show that P7 was registered in terms 
of the Notaries Ordinance No. 4 of 1902, as subsequently 
amended, and what has been produced as P7 is not a 
certified copy issued under Section 8 of the said Act.

For the Respondents, Mr. Dayaratne has argued with 
great force that P7 was not a document that required 
attestation. In particular, he referred to the provisions of the 
Powers of Attorney Ordinance No. 4 of 1902, as subsequently 
amended, which provides for the registration of written 
authorities and powers of attorney. He pointed out that in 
Section 2 of the said Ordinance, the term “power of attorney” 
is defined so as to “include any written power of authority 
other than that given to an attomey-at law or law agent, given
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by one person to another to perform any work, for any act, 
or cany on any trade or business, and executed before two 
witnesses, or executed before or attested by a notary public 
or by a Justice of the Peace, Registrar, Deputy Registrar, or by 
any Judge or Magistrate, or Ambassador, High Commissioner 
or other diplomatic representative of the Republic of Sri Lanka”, 
and relied on this inclusive definition for his contention that 
the law did not insist that a power of attorney must necessarily 
be in writing or should be registered. He submitted that a 
person may be appointed as attorney to deal with immovable 
property through a video recording, voice mail or telephone 
communication.

Mr. Dayaratne also submitted that the question whether 
the power or authority given for a person to execute a deed 
for dealing with immovable property on behalf of its owner 
should itself be executed in a similar manner had engaged 
our courts in the late nineteenth and early twentieth century 
in several cases, and heavily relied on the decisions in Meera 
Saibo v. Paulu Silva121', Sinnathamby v. John Pulle>22t, Beebee v. 
Sittambalami23] and Pathumma v. RahimatH2M, which 
have held that the grant of authority to execute a 
notarial document does not itself require notarial execution. 
Mr. Dayaratne pointed out that in Sinnathamby v. John Pulle, 
(supra) it was argued on the authority of Hunter v. Parker'251 

that a power of attorney to execute a deed can only be given 
by an instrument under seal, but Ennis, J., brushed aside 
this argument stating at 276 that-

The laws of Ceylon, however, do not provide for the 
distinction found in English Law between deeds, i.e., 
documents signed, sealed, and delivered, and documents 
under hand only. Deeds in the sense in which the word



Jamaldeen Abdul Latheefand v. Abdul Majeed Mohamed Mansoor and another
SC (Saleem Marsoof J.) 361

is used in English Law do not exist in Ceylon, and the 
English Rule cited applies in England to deeds only.

Mr. Dayaratne also stressed that in Pathumma v. 
Rahimath Bertram, (supra) CJ., at 160 referred to the deci­
sion in Meera Saibo’s case (supra) and observed that “that 
was decided more than 20  years ago, and, I think, it must be 
taken to be now settled law”, a view that has been endorsed 
by Justice Dr. C. G. Weeramanty, in his Law o f Contracts, 
Vol. 1 page 184.

Mr. Musthapha who appears for the Appellants, has 
submitted that logic and policy demanded a more cautious 
approach, and contended that a power of attorney by virtue 
of which a person such as Noor Lebbei claims that he had 
the power to execute any writing, deed, or instrument for 
effecting the sale or transfer of any land or other immov­
able property such as Deed No. 6165 dated 9th February 
1987 (PI), should be executed in the same manner in which 
such writing, deed or instrument is required to be execut­
ed. He also drew attention to the decision of the Supreme 
Court in the case of Dias v. Femandoi26) which supported 
his submission, and I quote below a passage from the judge­
ment of Burnside, C.J., in this case which I consider very 
pertinent: -

Now it is manifest that the object of the (Prevention of 
Frauds) Ordinance was to secure the most solemn proof 
of the contract, and not to let it depend upon the very 
fallible proof which parol evidence would, more especial­
ly in this country, afford. It would be, in the language 
of Lord Eldon, the most mischievous evasion of the 
Ordinance, if, whilst the instrument of lease itself must 
be of the solemn character prescribed, yet the authority to
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execute it and thus bind a party to it might depend upon 
the weakest and most unsatisfactoiy of all proof. The 
English statue requires a mere writing: our Ordinance 
requires a most solemn writing, which has all of, and more 
than, the solemnity of the execution of a deed by English 
Law, and in this material particular the two enactments 
differ, and upon the way to a decision based on the well 
recognized principle of English Law, that the authority to 
execute a deed must be by deed.

Of course, the opinion of Burnside, C.J., was not followed 
by the Supreme Court in Meera Saibo’s case (supra) and the 
subsequent decisions, but the Chief Justice’s hindsight in 
decrying the possibility of authorizing execution of a deed by a 
non-notarial conferment of power as “the most mischievous 
evasion” of the Prevention of Frauds Ordinance, can be more 
readily appreciated in the context of changing circumstances 
and developments of the law in Sri Lanka and abroad. In 
particular, it is necessary to consider the rapid increase 
in land related frauds in Sri Lanka, which have generally 
contributed to a sense of lawlessness and social instability 
leading to murder and other serious crimes.

It is necessary to stress that Withers, J., in his judgments in 
Meera Saibo, (supra) quoted the above dictum of Burnside, C. J., 
with some concern, but was persuaded to follow the reasoning 
of Ms. Berwick, the much celebrated and long standing 
District Judge of Colombo, set out in his judgment in Nama 
Sivaya v. Cowasjie EduljieP7\ which he chose to add as an 
attachment to his judgement in its entirety and has been 
reproduced in 4 NLR 232 to 235.

Mr. Berwick’s celebrated judgement in the Nama Sivaya 
case, may for convenience summarized as follows:-



(a) Mere “solemnities” (as the Civil law calls them) however 
essential they may be to give validity to an act, and to 
whatever extent they may have been devised with a view 
to better authentication and proof under the English 
law, have not been introduced in Ceylon by virtue of the 
introduction of the English Law relating to evidence;

(b) It therefore does not follow that, even if in the English 
Law a power of attorney to execute an'instrument must 
be evidenced by an instrument of equal solemnity, the 
same is the Law of Ceylon;

(c) The delegation of authority to enter into a deed is a 
personal act; the execution of the personal delegation is 
a “real” act. The latter must, in the present case, be done 
in conformity with the lex loci citae; it may be that the 
former is to be governed by the law of the place where the 
delegation is made, viz., England, where the law does not 
require the conferment of such authority shall be attested 
either by a notary or by witnesses.

(d) The Roman-Dutch Law authorities are silent as to the 
necessity of any special solemnities for the valid constitu­
tion of the mandate of an attorney, and nowhere in his 
Treatise on the Contract o f Mandate does Pothier advert to 
the necessity for notarial attestation for this purpose;

(e) Van Leeuwen, in his Censura Foresis (part 1, lib. 4, cap. 24) 
divides powers of attorneys into general and special, and 
also into express and tacit; and while be points out that 
there are many things which cannot be done under a 
general power of attorney (among others, sales and 
alienations), but which require a special power, he 
indicates no such difference under the further division 
into express (Quod expressum verbis sit [ant literis)) and
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tacit mandates, which is part of the law relating to agents; 
and

(f) The contention in the context of Ordinance No. 7 of 1840 
that the power of attorney itself establish an “interest 
affecting land” cannot be sustained because the power 
of attorney does not establish or convey any interest in 
land; it only authorizes another person to convey such an 
interest by all legal form and solemnities which the law of 
the Island may require.

If we have to apply to this case the principles of the 
Roman-Dutch law so authoritatively enunciated by 
Mr. Berwick in the aforesaid judgment, the Respondents 
will necessarily fail simply because the Power of Attorney 
marked P7 is not a special power of attorney which is requi­
site for empowering another to enter into a sale or alienation 
as explained by Van Leeuwen, in his Censura Forensis 
(part 1, lib 4, cap. 24). I quote below the operative paragraph 
of P7 which makes it abundantly clear that this was definitely 
not a special power of attorney:-

5. To superintend, manage and control the aforesaid land or 
any other landed property which I now or hereafter may 
become entitled to, possessed of or interested in and to 
sell and dispose of the said land which now or hereafter 
I may become entitled to possessed of or interested in by 
private contract or to enter into any agreement for sale 
thereof for such price or prices and upon such terms and 
conditions as my said Attorney shall think fit.

Furthermore, as the distinguished District Judge of 
Colombo has observed (vide sub paragraph (c) of the above 
summary), the form of delegation is governed by the law of the 
place where the delegation is made, which in this case is India,
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and the Respondents have failed to discharge the burden 
placed on them by law to prove the applicable legal principles 
and formalities in force in that country at the relevant 
period.

It is trite law that in terms of Section 45 of the Evidence 
Ordinance, the law of a foreign country has to be proved 
through the evidence of experts, or as outlined in the first 
proviso to Section 60, through other means such as the 
production in court of treatises on law where the author is 
dead or whose presence cannot be reasonably procured, 
an no expert testimony of the law in force India has been 
tendered in evidence or other material produced in court. 
The decision of this Court in Sreenivasaraghava Pyengar v. 
Jainambeebe AmmaP8) in this regard should be under­
stood in the light of the fact that at the time of that deci­
sion, British India was part of Her Majesty’s realm as much 
as Ceylon was, and was not a foreign country. In that 
case, the Supreme Court refused to rely on a document 
purporting to be a “true copy” of the original power of attorney, 
which has been copied by a registering officer in a book kept 
under the Indian Registration Act, 1908, and held that this 
was not in itself sufficient to establish the fact of execution 
of the original power of attorney. In the case before us, what 
has been produced is a mere photocopy, with no evidence in 
regard to how the photocopy was obtained, and in this case 
too there is no evidence to show that the power of attorney had 
been registered under the Indian Registration Act, 1908.

It was in these circumstances that Mr. Dayaratne sought 
to rely on the presumption in Section 85 of the Evidence 
Ordinance in regard to the Power of Attorney marked P7. 
In my considered opinion, the Respondents cannot invoke 
the assistance of this presumption, as the “authentication”
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required to attract the said presumption must be clear, 
specific and decisive. It has been held in Mohanstet v. Jayashri 
AIR1291 that “authentication” for this purpose is something 
more than execution, and cannot be based on the identifi­
cation by a third person who is not called to testify in the 
case, in circumstances where the executant was not person­
ally known to the Magistrate before whom the power of attor­
ney in question was executed. As Desai, J., observed in the 
course of his judgement at 204 to 205 -

It is now well settled that authentication is more than 
mere execution before one of the persons designated in 
Section 85. . . .

As far as the identity of the executant is concerned, the 
Magistrate in fact indicates that he is personally unaware 
of the executants but puts his signature on the basis of 
identification made by an Advocate. It is true that such 
identification by the advocate is mentioned in the rubber 
stamp, and one may presume that it is on the basis of 
such identification that the Magistrate proceeded to put 
the rubber stamp. But will this amount to authentication 
by the Magistrate? Section 85 contains a presumption, 
a presumption which may operate in favour of the party 
relying on a document and to the prejudice of the party 
alleging that the document is not a genuine one. For the 
purpose of such presumption to operate, particularly 
in the background of the facts above ascertained, the 
authentication must be clear, specific and decisive, and 
bereft of the features which I have indicated earlier. If 
there is the slightest doubt, then the Court must be loathe 
to rely on the presumption contained in Section 85 and 
must be equally loathed in applying such presumption in 
favour to the party relying on the document.
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The case at hand is similar, as it is evident from the 
attestation clause of P7 that the Notary Public relied on the 
“information” provided by the two attesting witnesses with 
regard to the identity of the executant, who was otherwise 
not known to him. In these circumstances, I am of the 
opinion that the Respondents have failed to furnish suffi­
cient evidence to satisfy court that the applicable formalities 
of the law have been complied with in executing the power 
of attorney, or to show, as contemplated by Section 69 of 
the Evidence Ordinance, which is applicable to proof o f any 
document executed abroad, that the “attestation of one 
attesting witness at least is in his handwriting, and that the 
signature of the person executing the document is in the 
handwriting of that person.”

It is also pertinent to note that Mr. Berwick had in his 
judgement in the Nama Sivaya (supra) case very correctly ana­
lyzed the question of the form of delegation of authority as one 
filling within the law relating to agents, but it does not 
appear whether he considered the question as to whether 
the insertion by Ordinance No. 22 of 1866, of inter alia the 
words “principals and agents” into the Introduction of English 
Law Ordinance (Civil Law Ordinance) No. 5 of 1852 had the 
effect of making the English law applicable on this subject 
applicable in Sri Lanka. Of course, that would not have made 
any difference to the decision in that case, as Mr. Berwick 
himself had concluded, as will be seen from sub-paragraph (c) 
of my summary of the reasoning of Mr. Berwick, that the 
Statute of Frauds of 1677 did not require attestation for 
conferment of authority for executing a deed.

However, it is important to note that the relevant provision 
of the Statute of Frauds have been replaced in the United 
Kingdom by Section 74(3) to 74(5) and Section 123 to 129 of
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the Law of Property Act 1925 (c 20) and Section 219 of the 
Supreme Court of Judicature (Consolidation) Act 1925 (c 49), 
which in turn have given way to Section 1 of the Powers of 
Attorney Act of 1971 (c. 27). The latter Act has been amended 
by the Law of Property (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act of 1989 
(c 34), and as so amended, Section 1(1) of the Powers of 
Attorney Act of 1971 would read as follows

1(1) An instrument creating Power of Attorney shall be
executed as a deed, or by direction and in the presence
of, the donor of the power, (emphasis added).

It is noteworthy that the Law of Property (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act of 1989 generally abolished the prior law 
which required a seed for a valid execution of a deed by an 
individual, and substituted for the words “signed and sealed 
by “which were found in Section 1 (1) of the Powers of Attorney 
Act of 1971 the words “executed as a deed”. Section 1(3) of 
the 1989 Act also provided that -

An instrument is validly executed as a deed by an 
individual if, and only if -

(a) it is signed -

(i) by him in the presence o f a witness who attests 
the signature; or

(ii) at his direction and in his presence and the 
presence of two witnesses who each attest the 
signature; and

(b) it is delivered as a deed by him or a person 
authorized to do so on his behalf.

A question of some difficulty that could arise in Sri Lanka 
in view of these developments in the United Kingdom is
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whether the above quoted English statutory provisions 
would become applicable in Sri Lanka through Section 3 of 
the Introduction of English Law Ordinance which seeks to 
incorporate into our legal fabric in regard to “principals and 
agents”, and certain other specified subjects, the law that 
“would be administered in England in the like case, at the 
corresponding period, if such question of issue had arisen 
or had to be decided in England, unless in any case other 
provision is or shall be made by any enactment now in force 
in Ceylon or hereinafter to be enacted.” Although there does 
not appear to be a decision of the Supreme Court on this 
point, it must be pointed out that the decision of the Court 
of Appeal in Wright and Three Others v. People’s Banl<630) 
would appear to suggest an affirmative response to this 
question. In that case, the Court of Appeal affirmed the 
decision of the District Judge that Section 2(1) of the English 
Factors Act of 1889 was part of our law, and it is noteworthy 
that in the course of his judgement at 300 G.P.S. de 
Silva, J., (as he then was) observed that “what is applicable is 
not only the English law in force at the time of the enactment 
but also any subsequent statute.” The Sri Lankan Powers of 
Attorney Ordinance No. 4 of 1902, as subsequently amended, 
may not be a stumbling block to an argument in favour of 
applying the English provisions relating to the execution of 
a power of attorney by an individual, as the local Powers of 
Attorney Ordinance is confined, as clearly set out in its 
preamble, to the “registration of written authorities and 
powers of attorney” and there is no contrary provision in 
regard to the execution of powers of attorney either in that 
Ordinance or in the Prevention of Frauds Ordinance.

It is, however, unnecessary for the purpose of this case 
to express an opinion in regard to this question, since as 
already noted, the Power of Attorney marked P7 was allegedly 
executed in India and would attract the Indian law relating to
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form, and furthermore, even if it is regarded as a document 
that does not require attestation as urged by Mr. Dayaratne, 
the Respondents would still fail. This is mainly because, 
according to Section 72 of the Evidence Ordinance, “an 
attested document not required by law to be attested may be 
proved as if it was unattested”, and Section 67 of the same 
Ordinance provides that -

I f  a document is alleged to be signed or to have been 
written wholly or in part by any person, the signature or 
the handwriting o f so much o f the document as is alleged 
to be in that person's handwriting must be proved to be in 
his handwriting.

Admittedly, P7 does not purport to contain Abdul Cader’s 
handwriting, but it contained a signature which is alleged by 
the Respondents to be his. It is noteworthy that none of the 
witnesses who spoke about P7 testified that the signature 
purporting to be that of Abdul Cader was placed thereon in 
the presence of such witness, nor was any effort made by 
the Respondents to show by comparison of other documents 
that may have contained the signature of Abdul Cader, 
that the signature on P7 was that of Abdul Cader. The 
Attorney named in the said Power of Attorney, Noor Lebbai 
has testified in the case, and has stated that in 1972 Sadakku 
left Sri Lanka leaving the land in his charge, and that much 
later and after the demise of Sadakku, his son Abdul Cader 
who lives in India, executed the Power of Attorney marked P7 
authorizing him to look after the land and also to alienate it 
if the need arises.

Although he has placed reliance on P7, he did not state 
that he was personally present in India when the executant 
placed his signature on it, or seek to identify the signa­
ture as that of the executant Abdul Cader. He also did not
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explain how P7 came into his hands, or why only a pho­
tocopy thereof was tendered in evidence. No doubt, as 
Widham, J., observed in King v. Peter Nonisf31] at 17, the 
so called *best evidence’ rule “has been subjected to whit­
tling down process for over a Century” and it is not always 
necessary today to produce in court the original of a 
document on which he relies. However, the non-production 
of the original document without any explanation as to why 
the original is not being produced, is certainly a matter for 
comment and may affect the weight to be attached to the 
evidence which is produced in its stead. See, the observa­
tions of L. H. de Alwis, J., in Vanderbona v. Justin Perera 
at 68, and A.R.B. Amarasinghe, J., in Stella Perera & 
Others v. Margret Silva at 173.

It is therefore clear that applying the test of proof of a 
document that was not required by law to be attested, there 
was no prima facie evidence to prove its authenticity, and the 
question of its admissibility did not even arise. I am therefore 
of the opinion that the contention of the learned President’s 
Counsel for the Appellants that the Power of Attorney marked 
P7 has not been proved as required by law has to be upheld.

There remains, however, one more matter on which 
learned Counsel for the contending parties have made 
submissions, which was raised in the context that the usual 
practice of reading in evidence the documents that were 
marked and produced at the trial in the course of witness 
testimony was not followed when the case for the Respon­
dents was closed on 27th April 1993. This is substantive 
question 5, which specifically focuses on this issue, namely: 
is it mandatory to read the documents in evidence at the
conclusion of the trial? There is no provision in the Civil
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Procedure Code that mandates the reading in of the marked 
documents at the close of the case of a particular party. 
However, learned and experienced Counsel who have 
appeared in the original courts in civil cases from time 
immemorial developed such a practice, which has received 
the recognition of our courts. For instance, in Sri Lanka 
Ports Authority and Another v. Jugolinija - Boat East3*' 
Samarakoon, CJ., commented on this practice, and ventured to 
observe at 23 to 24 of his judgement that if no objection to 
any particular marked documents is taken when at the close 
of a case documents are read in evidence, “they are evidence 
for all purposes of the law.” It has been held that this is the 
cursus curiae of the original courts. See, Silva v. Kingersld3S>; 
Adaicappa Chettiar v. Thomas Cook and Son(36), Perera v. 
Seyed Mohomedi37); Balapitiya Gunananda Thero v. Talalle 
Methananda Thero |38); Cinemas Limited v. Sounderarajan(39); 
Stassen Exports Ltd., v. Brooke Bond Group Ltd., and Two 
Others (4D|.

It would therefore follow that even though the Power of 
Attorney marked P7 had in fact not been proved as required 
by law, if the learned Counsel for the Respondents had read 
in P7 in evidence with the other marked documents at the 
close of the case for the Respondents without any objection 
being taken on behalf of the Appellants, P7 would have 
been deemed to be good evidence for all purposes of the law. 
However, that is not what actually happened in this case. 
A photocopy of the power of attorney allegedly granted by 
Abdul Cader to Noor Lebbai was marked P7 subject to proof, 
no proof whatsoever was adduced to prove the aforesaid 
photocopy, and none of the marked documents were read in 
evidence at the conclusion of the Respondents’ case.
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For all these reasons, I hold that the Power of Attorney 
marked P7 has not been duly proved, and cannot be acted 
upon as evidence. I therefore hold that question 1(a) on which 
special leave to appeal has been granted in this case, should 
be answered in the negative.

Title o f the Respondents

The other connected substantive question on which leave 
has been granted, which relate to the title of the Respondents 
to the land described in the schedule to the petition, has been 
split up into two sub-questions which are reproduced below:

1. (b) Does the Deed produced marked P I operate to 
convey the title of Mohideen Abdul Coder, to the 
Respondents?

(c) If not, was the Court of Appeal in error in holding that 
the Learned District Judge had correctly arrived at 
the finding that the Respondents had established title 
to the subject matter of the action?

Mr. Musthapha has submitted on behalf of the 
Appellants that Deed No. 6165 (PI) does not operate to 
convey the title of Mahideen Abdul Cader, to the Respondents. 
He has contended in so far as the procedure set out in 
Section 31 of the Notaries Ordinance No. 1 of 1907, as 
subsequently amended, has not been complied with in respect 
to the execution of Deed No. 6165 (PI), it is a nullity. The said 
procedure is found in rule 30, which provides that -

If he (a notary) attest any deed or instrument executed 
before him by means of an attorney, he shall preserve 
a true copy of the power of attorney with his protocol, 
and shall forward a like copy with the duplicate to the 
Registrar of Lands
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I also note that the Registrar of Land, Anuradhapura, 
Ulluduhewage Karunaratne, who was called to give evidence 
on behalf of the Appellants, has stated in his testimony that 
a copy of P7 has not been forwarded along with the duplicate 
of the deed marked PI in compliance with the procedure set 
out in Section 31 of the Notaries Ordinance. However, in my 
view this contention cannot be sustained as Section 33 of the 
Notaries Ordinance clearly enacts that -

No instrument shall be deemed to be invalid by reason 
only o f the failure o f any notary to observe any provi­
sion o f any rule set out in section 31 in respect o f any 
matter o f form: provided that nothing hereinbefore 
contained shall be deemed to give validity to any 
instrument which may be invalid by reason o f non- 
compliance with the provisions o f any other written law.

Mr. Musthapha has further submitted that a plain 
reading of Deed No. 6165 marked PI reveals that the 
alleged attorney Noor Lebbai has purported to convey the land 
described in its schedule as its owner, and not as the holder 
of the Power of Attorney mared P7. He has also stressed that 
the notary before whom the aforesaid deed was executed has 
not mentioned in his attestation, in what other capacity Noor 
Lebbai signed the deed in question. Mr. Dayaratne has, in 
his response, relied very much on the language used in the 
operative part of the deed, wherein Noor Lebbai refers to the 
Power of Attorney marked P7, and states that -
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allegedly vested in Abdul Cader through the instrumentality 
of an alleged agent, and is in effect a purported conveyance 
of title and possession which Noor Lebbai never enjoyed, and 
which he cannot in law dispose of.

Apart from this, there is also considerable doubt as to 
whether Abdul Cader himself had title to the said four acre 
land, as there is inadequate material before court to conclude 
that the admitted ownership of Sadakku had devolved on 
Abdul Cader. I find that the Respondents have failed to 
establish the devolution of title to Abdul Cader. Although 
it appears from the testimony of Respondents’ witness 
Mohamed Ibrahim Lebbai Noor Lebbai that there was a 
testamentary case with respect to the estate of Sadakku, no 
documentary evidence whatsoever has been produced at the 
trial in regard to how the ownership of the land described in 
the schedule to the petition devolved on the heirs of sadakku. 
It transpires from the testimony of Noor Lebbai, that 
Sadakku’s brother Kachchi Mohideen succeeded to a 2/10* 
share of the land described in the schedule to the petition and 
that Sadakku’s two sons Mohomadu Mohideen and Abdul 
Cader, also inherited undivided shares in the land, the pro­
portions of which have not been clearly established. Therefore, 
it is evident from the testimony of the Respondents’ 
witnesses themselves that Abdul Cader was not the sole 
owner of the land described in the schedule to the petition. 
It follows that, even if the Power of Attorney marked P7 was 
proved, that evidence led in regard to the devolution of title 
from Sadakku to Abdul Cader cannot be said to have establish 
the title Abdul Cader to the entirety of the land on the 
standard of proof that is required in a rei vindicatio action. It 
is also important to bear in mind that, for the reasons already 
advanced, in so far as the execution of the Power of Attorney 
marked P7 has not been duly proved, Noor Lebbai did not 
have any power or authority to bind Abdul Cader and for



that reason alone, Deed No. 6165 (PI) cannot operate to 
convey any title to the Respondents.

I therefore have no difficulty in answering the substan­
tive question 1(b) in the negative and holding that the Deed 
produced marked P I does not operate to convey the admitted 
title of Muhammad Mahideen Cader Saibu Mohideen Sadakku, 
or the alleged title of Mohideen Abdul Cader, to the 
Respondents.

Sub-question 1(c) was of course intended to be 
consequential upon question 1(b) being answered in the 
negative, and requires some attention, because it raises 
the question, in that event, whether the Court of Appeal 
was in error in holding that the Learned District Judge has 
correctly arrived at the finding that the Respondents had 
established title to the subject matter o f the action. It is in this 
case somewhat difficult to fathom what is meant by the 
words “the subject matter of the action”, as there has been 
a great deal of confusion in this regard. It was in view of this 
confusion that this Court specifically invited learned Counsel 
to make submissions on the question of the identity of the 
corpus, even though none of the substantive questions on which 
special leave had been granted by this Court, directly raised 
any issue in regard to the identity of subject matter of the 
action from which this appeal arises.

It is trite law that the identity of the property with respect 
to which a vindicatory action is instituted is an fundamental 
to the success of the action as the proof of the ownership 
(dominum) of the owner (dominus). The passage from Wille’s 
Principles o f South African Laws (9th Edition - 2007) at pages 
539-540, which I have already quoted in this judgement, 
stresses that to succeed with an action rei uindicatio, which
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this case clearly is, the owner must prove on a balance of 
probabilities, not only his or her ownership in the property, 
but also that the property exists and is clearly identifiable. 
It is also essential to show that the defendant is “in posses­
sion or detention of the thing at the moment the action is 
instituted.” Wille also observes that the rationale for this 
“is to ensure that the defendant is in a position to comply 
with an order for restoration.”

The identity of the subject matter is of paramount 
importance in a rei vindicatio action because the object of 
such an action is to determine ownership of the property, 
which objective cannot be achieved without the property 
being clearly identified. Where the property sought to be 
vindicated consists of land, the land sought to be vindicated 
must be identified by reference to a survey plan or other 
equally expeditious method. It is obvious that ownership 
cannot be ascribed without clear identification of the property 
that is subjected to such ownership, and furthermore, the 
ultimate objective of a person seeking to vindicate immovable 
property by obtaining a writ of execution in terms of Section 
323 of the Civil Procedure Code will be frustrated if the 
fiscal to whom the writ is addressed, cannot clearly identify 
the property by reference to the decree for the purpose 
of giving effect to it. It is therefore essential in a vindicatory 
action, as much as in a partition action, for the corpus to be 
identified with precision.

Doubts in regard to the identity of the land sought to 
be vindicated in this case arise from the fact that while the 
Respondents in their petition laid claim to a four care land 
known as “Palugahakumbura”, in Mahawela, Pahalabaage 
situated in the village of Pandiyankulama in Nachcha
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Tulana of Ulagalla Korale in Hurulu Palata of the 
Anuradhapura District, by virtue of Deed bearing No. 6165 
(PI), the l 8t Appellant asserted prescriptive title to a land 
described as “Nilattu Patti Wayal” falling within LD 2 Ela in 
the village of Pandiyankulama in Nachchadoova Tulane of 
Ulagalla Korale in Hurulu Palata in extent 3 acres 2 roods 
and 26 perches.

In the schedule to the petition filed by the Respondents, 
which closely followed the schedules to the deeds marked PI 
to P6 , there was no reference to any survey plan and the four 
acte land claimed by the Respondents was described in the 
following manner:-

All that field called Palugaha Kumbura situated in 
the Pahala Bagaya of the Mahawela at Nachchaduwa 
Pandinkulama in Nachcha Tulana of Ulagalla Korale in 
Hurula Palata in the District of Anuradhapura of the 
North Central Province, bounded on the North by the field 
of Nawuran Lebbe Mohiyadeen Pitcha and Others, East 
presently by Welle and the property of Yusoof Lebbe one 
of the vendors hereof, South by the property of Ali Tamby 
Lebbe Sharibu and the Others and West presently by the 
property of Sultan Unus containing in extent Four Acres 
(4A-0R-0P) more or less together with the paddy crops 
that are growing now on the land.

In the Schedule to the answer filed by the Appellants, 
which too made no reference to any survey plan, the land 
claimed by the 1st Appellant was described as follows

The land known as Nilattu Pitti Wayal, in extent 3 acres, 2 
roods and 26 perches (A3-R2-P26) situated within the LD 
2 Ela of the village of Pandiyankulama in Nachchadoowa



380 Sri Lanka Law  Reports [2010] 2 SR I LR.

Tulana of Ulagalla Korale in Hurulu Palate in the District 
of Anuradhapura of the North Central Province, bounded 
on the North by the paddy fields belonging to Y. M. Ismail 
and M. P. Kairun Nisa, on the East by the LD 2 Ela on 
the South by the paddy-field of D.C.M. Wijesinghe and on 
the West the paddy field of U. Cader Beebee and T. C. M. 
Munesighe, together with all things from therein.

It was perhaps in view of the differences in extent and 
description of the lands claimed by the contending par­
ties, and the circumstance that neither the schedule to the 
petition nor the schedule to the answer described the land 
in suit by reference to a survey plan, that the District Court 
issued a commission on D. M. G. Dissanayake, Licensed 
Surveyor, to survey the land referred to in the schedule to 
the petition filed by the Respondents as well as the land 
described in the schedule to the answer filed by the Appel­
lants, and report whether they were the same. Plan bearing 
No. 1176 dated 10th October 1990 and the accompanying 
report prepared by Surveyor Dissanayake after the survey 
of a land pointed out by the contending parties as the land 
in dispute, showed that the land which the parties were 
contending for was only 2 acres, 3 roods and 0.75 perches 
in extent and was situated in the village of Madawalagame 
(Final Village Plan 520) within the Nachchadoova GS Divi­
sion in Kandu Tulana of Kanadara Korale in Nuwaragam 
Palata, in the Anuradhapura District, which according to the 
Surveyor Dissanayake, was an altogether different locality 
from the area where the land described in the respective 
schedules to the petition and the answer was situated.

It was in these circumstances, that the District Court 
issued a further Commission on K. V. Somapala, Licensed
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Surveyor, to survey the land claimed by the two contending 
parties to the case. Surveyor Somapala prepared Plan No. 
2025 dated 16.04.1991, which revealed that the land surveyed 
by him, the boundaries of which had also been pointed out 
by the contending parties, was in extent 2 acres 3 roods and 
31 perches and was situated in the village of Pandiyankulama, 
in Nachchadoova Tulana of Ulagalla Korale in the Hurulu 
Palata in the Anuradhapura District. Although falling short 
of the four acres claimed by the Respondents in their petition 
by approximately 1 acre, 1 rood and 9 perches as well as the 
land claimed by the 1st Appellant in the answer by 2 roods 
and 35 perches, the location and boundaries of the land 
depicted in Plan No. 2025 were somewhat consistent with the 
description of the land set out in the schedule to the petition 
of the Respondents as well as the description of the land set 
out in the schedule to the answer.

It is remarkable that although a comparison of the 
schedules to the petition and answer filed in this case give the 
impression that they refer to two distinct and different lands 
with two different names and dimensions and boundaries 
having nothing in common except that they were situated 
in the village of Pandiyankulama in Nachchadoova Tulana 
of Ulagalla Korale in Hurulu Palata, in the Anuradhapura 
District, the boundaries of Plan No. 2025 prepared by 
Surveyor Somapala almost perfectly tally with the boundaries 
of the land described in the schedule to the answer filed by 
the Appellant. According to both the aforesaid Plan and the 
schedule to the answer, on the northern boundary of the land 
depicted therein are the paddy fields belonging to Y. M. Ismail 
and M. P. Kairun Nisa, and on the eastern boundary is the 
LD 2 Ela. The southern boundary of the said Plan and the 
schedule to the answer, is the paddy field belonging to
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D.C.M. Wijesinghe and on the western boundary is the paddy 
field belonging to U. Cader Beebee and T. C. M. Munasinghe. 
It is relevant to note that in the aforesaid Plan, Surveyor 
Somapala has also endeavoured to indicate the names of the 
previous owners of the paddy fields mentioned above, but he 
does not in his report or testimony in court, disclose how he 
got these particulars, and it is a reasonable inference that 
he had got these particulars from Plan No. 1176 and report 
prepared by Surveyor Dissanayake, which I shall advert to 
presently.

It is of some significance that Plan No. 1176 prepared 
by Surveyor Dissanayake, though placing the surveyed land 
in a different village called Madawalagama in Kandu Tulana 
of Kandara Korale in the Nuwaragama Division, shows that 
the northern and eastern boundaries of the land surveyed 
by Dissanayake substantially tally with the northern and 
eastern boundaries of the land described in the schedule to 
the answer of the Appellants: In Plan No. 1176, the northern 
boundary is shown as the paddy field previously owned by 
Nawuran Lebbe Mohiyadeen and presently owned by Y. M. 
Ismail. No. reference is made to any paddy field belonging to 
M. P. Kairun Nisa in Plan No. 1176, although in the schedule 
to the answer that paddy field too is said to be on the northern 
boundary. Similarly, the eastern boundary of the land 
depicted in Plan No. 1176 is the irrigation canal and reser­
vation while in the schedule to the answer it is described as 
LD 2 Ela.

However, it would appear that the southern and western 
boundaries of Plan No. 1176 are substantially different from 
the corresponding boundaries of the land described in the 
schedule to the answer. In Plan No. 1176, the paddy field 
on .the southern boundary is indicated as previously owned 
by Ana Ali Thambi Lebbe and presently claimed by
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D. S. Gunesekera whereas according to the schedule to the 
answer, the southern boundary consists of the paddy field 
belonging to D. C. M. Wijesinghe. In Plan No. 1176, the 
western boundary is shown as the paddy field previously 
owned by Lebbe Thambi Yusuf and presently claimed by 
D. S. Gunesekara and P. Nainul Abdeen while in the schedule 
to the answer, the land described in the schedule to the 
petition is bounded on the west by the paddy field of U. Cader 
Beebee and T. C. M. Munesinghe.

It is interesting to note that Surveyor Dissanayake has 
endeavoured to show the boundaries of Plan No. 1176 in 
a manner as to be consistent with the boundaries of the 
land described in the schedule to the petition filed by the 
Respondents. Thus, the northern boundary of the said land, 
is the paddy field of Nawuran Lebbe Mohiyadeen Pitcha and 
others which is sought to be substantiated in Plan No. 1176 
by referring to Y. M. Ismail as the claimant to the paddy field 
on the northern boundary as the successor in title of Nawuran 
Lebbe Mohiyadeen and others. Similarly, the southern 
boundary in the aforesaid Plan is described as the paddy 
field claimed by D. S. Gunasekera and previously owned by 
Ana Ali Thambi Lebbe, while in the schedule to the petition 
the corresponding boundary is the paddy field belonging to 
Ali Thambi Lebbe Sharibu. However, there is some incon- 
sistenc as far as the eastern and western boundary of the 
land described therein is the “welle” and the property of 
(@©de) and the property of Yusoof Lebbe, whereas in the Plan 
No. 1176 and report, on the eastern boundary of the land 
is the irrigation canal and reservation, but there is no 
reference to the property of Yusoof Lebbe. Of course, the “the 
irrigation canal” on the eastern boundary of the aforesaid 
plan does not give rise to much of an issue, as the Sinhalese 
term “welle” (@©dc) refers to an embankment or mound of a 
canal or a paddy field, but no light was shed by any of the
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surveyors or witnesses in regard to the reference to Yousoof 
Lebbe in the schedule to the petition. Similarly, according to 
Plan No. 1176 and its report, on the western boundary of the 
land surveyed is the paddy field claimed by D. S. Gunasekere 
and C. Jainul Abdeen and originally owned by Lebbe Thambi 
Yusoof, but the schedule to the petition states that on the 
western boundary is the property of Sultan Yunoos, which 
is entirely a different name, and there is no basis on which 
these boundaries can be said to be consistent.

It is also important to empahsise that neither Surveyor 
Dissanayake nor any other witness who testified at the 
trial, including the 1st Petitioner-Respondent-Respondent, 
the 1st Defendant-Appellant-Appellant and Surveyor Somapala, 
placed before court any documentary or other evidence to 
substantiate the alleged succession to title to the fields or 
paddy fields on the northern and southern boundaries of 
the land described in the schedule to the petition, which 
information had been used by Surveyor Dissanayake for 
the purpose of synchronising the boundaries of the land 
described in the schedule to the petition with the land 
depicted in Plan No. 1175 and the accompanying report, and 
uncritically adopted by Surveyor Somapala in Plan No. 2025 
and report annexed thereto. In the absence of such evidence, 
there is no justification to conclude that the boundaries of 
the land surveyed by these surveyors as the land in dispute, 
tally with the land described in the schedule to the petition 
of the Respondents. To Illustrate this point, the statement 
in the aforesaid survey plans and reports to the effect 
that the paddy field situated on the northern boundary of 
the land subjected to the survey was claimed by one Y. M. 

Ismail is an empirical fact reported and testified to by both 
surveyors which they were competent to make, but the state­
ment to the effect that the previous owners of the said paddy
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field were Nuwuran Lebbe Mohiyadeen Pitcha and others, is 
clearly hearsay, in the absence of any documentary or other 
evidence to substantiate the accuracy of that statement. So 
also, the statement on the said plans and reports to the ef­
fect that the paddy field on the southern boundary originally 
belonged to one Ali Thambi Lebbe, which substantially tallies 
with the name of the owner of the property described in the 
schedule to the petition, namely Ali Thambi Lebbe Sharibu, is 
at best hearsay, in the absence of any evidence to relate the 
aforesaid original owner or owners to the respective 
claimants of the said property at the time of the survey.

Furthermore, despite the superficial similarity between 
the lands depicted in Plan No. 1175 and Plan No. 2025, 
particularly, the bifurcation of the land by two canals, one 
close to the northern boundary and the other almost at the 
center of the land, the said two plans seek to locate the lands 
by reference to two distinct villages, tulanas, korales and 
palatas and even the location and description of the land 
described in the schedule to the petition does not tally 
with the village, tulana, korale and palata of Survey or 
Dissanayake’s Plan No. 1175. In any event, this superficial 
similarity could only be used to show that the lands surveyed 
by Dissanayake and Somapala were substantially similar, 
but there is no reference to any such bifurcations of canals in 
the schedule to the petition.

Despite these obvious differences, the parties did not 
appear to have any difficulty in identifying the corpus at 
the stage of formulating the issues after the return of the 
commission to survey the land or lands in dispute. It is 
unfortunate that neither the learned District Judge, nor the 
learned Counsel for the contending parties, realized that 
issue 6 sought to described the land in dispute by reference
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to the schedule to the petition of the Respondents as well 
as Plan No. 1176 and the accompanying report prepared by 
Surveyor Dissanayake despite their mutual inconsistency in 
regard to not only the extent of the land but also with respect 
to the village, the tulana, the Korale and the palata in which 
the land is situated. It is also significant that issue 8 raised 
on behalf of the Appellants did not seek to describe the land 
claimed by them by reference to the schedule to their answer 
or the plan and report prepared by Surveyor Somapala, and 
that in the aforesaid issue they had assumed that the bone 
of contention in the case was one and the same land, which 
they ventured to describe as "@®® zngsa epqa© <g>Q@"

It is manifest that issues 6 to 8 , thus formulated have 
only confounded the confusion in regard to the identity of 
the land in dispute, which the testimony of the two surveyors 
in this case has in no way helped to reduce. Surveyor 
Dissanayake was unable to explain the differences in the 
village name, tulana, korale and palata between the schedule 
to the petition and his Plan bearing No. 1176, although the 
name of the land an some of the boundaries specified in the 
schedule to the petition tallied with his plan. On the other 
hand, Surveyor Somapala was clear in his testimony that 
the land surveyed by him could not be the same as the land 
surveyed by Surveyor Dissanayake as the village, tulana, 
Korale and palata within which the two lands were situated 
were different, althought the structure and the bifurcations 
of the canals on the two plans were similar.

To sum up, from the issues raised by the contending 
parties as well as the documentation and evidence led in this 
case, it would appear that despite serious doubts regarding 
the location of the lands surveyed by the commissioned



surveyors, the Respondents as well as the 1st Appellant 
were claiming title to substantially the same land. It is also 
material to note that the extracts of the Register of 
Agricultural Lands produced by respectively the 
Respondents marked P2 and the Appellants marked "S f 
describe the land described in the schedule to the petition as 
“Palugahakumbara” in extent 3 acres, 2 roods and 26 
perches, under serial No. 15/353 in Cultivation Officer 
Division of 42A Tulana up to the year 1987, and in the year 
1988 the description of the land was changed to “Nilattu 
Pattiya” in extent 4 acres, under Serial No. 19/459 in the 
same Cultivation Officer Division. Of course, the surveys 
conducted on commissions issued by court disclosed a much 
smaller land, the earlier plan bearing No. 1176 depicting an 
extent of 2 acres. 3 roods and 7.5 perches, which was less 
than the land extent shown in Plan No. 2025 prepared by 
Surveyor Somapala by approximately 24.5 perches, possibly 
due to the shifting of the northern boundary due to some 
encroachments.

In these circumstances, in my opinion, the learned 
District Judge was justified in concluding that the lands 
claimed by the contending parties are one and the same 
and is substantively depicted in the survey plan prepared by 
Surveyor Dissanayake, a finding which has been affirmed by 
the Court of Appeal. However, what the lower courts have 
failed to realize is that this does not necessarily mean that 
the land depicted by Surveyor Dissanayake, in his Plan 
No. 1176 is identical with the land described in the schedule 
to the petition and the title deeds PI and P3 to P6 . Such 
identification is vital to a vindicatory action such as this 
in which a declaration of title and ejectment of the Appel­
lants has been sought by the Respondents by virtue of the
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said title deeds. It is unfortunate that neither the learned 
District Judge nor the Court of Appeal has taken into consid­
eration the inconsistencies fully outlined above, that exist in 
identifying the boundaries of the land described in the 
schedule to the petition with the land actually surveyed by 
the two surveyors on commissions issued by the court.

The learned District Judge was not helped by the 
obvious confusion in issue 6  which, as already noted, 
sought to describe the land claimed by the Respondents by 
reference to the schedule to the petition filed by them as 
well as by reference to Plan No. 1176 depicted by Surveyor 
Dissanayake. The learned District Judge uncritically 
answered the issue in the affirmative, causing great ambiguity 
in identifying the land, with respect to which a declaration 
of title was sought by the Respondents. The learned District 
Judge had in his judgement purported to make an express 
order of ejectment, based no doubt, on an implicit declaration 
of title to land claimed by the Respondents, ignoring the fact 
that the schedule to the petition referred to in the said issue 
6 , placed the land in the village of Pandiankulama in Nachcha 
Tulana in tha Ulagalla Korale in Hurulu Palata of the 
Anuradhapura District, while Plan No. 1176 dated 10th 
October 1990 prepared by Surveyor Dissanayake placed it 
in the village of Madawalagam in Kandu Tulane within the 
Kanadara Korale in Nuwaragam Palata of the same District. 
The learned District Judge has also failed to make any finding 
pertaining to the extent of the land described in the schedule 
to the petition, which was four acres according to the schedule 
to the petition, while it was only 2 acres, 3 roods and 7.5 
perches according to Surveyor Dissanayake’s Plan No. 1176. 
He has also not arrived at any finding in regard to which of 
the two survey plans that had been prepared on commissions
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issued by court, depicted the land described in the schedule 
to the petition accurately, particularly in the context that Plan 
No. 2025 was more in accord with the location of the land as 
set in the schedule to the petition, but depicted a slightly 
larger land in extent 2 acres, 3 roods and 31 perches.

The learned District Judge has come to the conclusion 
that the bone of contention between the contending parties 
is the same as the land described in the schedule to the 
petition of the Respondents as well as the schedules to the 
title deeds marked PI and P3 to P6 . In doing so, he has 
totally lost sight of Section 187 of the Civil Procedure Code, 
which provides that the judgment “shall contain a concise 
statement of the case, the points for determination, the
decision thereon, and the reasons for such decision.... ” It is
obvious that bare answers to issues without reasons are not 
in compliance with the requirements of the said provision of 
the Civil Procedure Code, and the evidence germane to each 
issue must be reviewed or examined by the Judge, who should 
evaluate and consider the totality of the evidence. This, the 
learned District Judge has failed to do, and the Court of 
Appeal has overlooked in affirming the decision of the District 
Court.

It is the primary duty of a court deciding a case involving 
ownership of land, whether it is a partition action or rei 
vindicatio action, to consider carefully whether the relevant 
land (corpus) has been clearly identified. As already stressed, 
identity of the land is fundamental for the purpose of 
attributing ownership, and for ordering ejectment. In order to 
make a proper finding, it is necessary to formulate the issues 
in a clear and unambiguous manner to assist the reasoning 
process of court. In my considered opinion, the learned
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District Judge has seriously misdirected himself in the 
manner in which he formulated issue 6 , which makes 
reference to the schedule to the petition and the plan and 
report prepared by Surveyor Dissanayake, which differ 
drastically form each other with respect to the location, 
boundaries and extent of the land described or depicted 
therein. By answering the issue in the affirmative with­
out clarifying whether he was going by the schedule to the 
petition or on the basis of one of the survey plans prepared 
on the commissions issued by court, and if so which one, the 
learned District Judge has altogether begged the question of 
identity of the corpus which is so vital to a vindicatory action, 
which negates the possibility of deciding on the question of 
title that arises in this case. The resulting judgement, which 
unfortunately has been affirmed by the Court of Appeal, is 
fatally flawed, and the finding that title to the land claimed 
by the Respondents devolved on them by virtue of Deed 
No. 6165 marked PI is altogether unfounded.

For all these reasons, I hold that substantive question 
1(c) has to be answered in the affirmative, and that the Court 
of Appeal was indeed in error in affirming the decision of the 
learned District Judge that the Respondents had established 
title to the subject matter of the action.

Prescription

In view of my answers to the 3 sub-questions of 
substantive question 1 on which special leave has been 
granted by this Court, it is unnecessary to decide question 
2, which is whether the Court of Appeal erred in failing to 
consider that the learned District Judge has not duly 
evaluated the evidence on the question of prescription. I 
therefore do not propose to go into this question in depth. In a 
rei uindicatio action, it is not necessary to consider whether
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the defendant has any title or right to possession, where the 
plaintiff has failed to establish his title to the land sought to 
be vindicated and the action ought to be dismissed without 
more.

However, I wish to use the opportunity to deal with a 
submission made by learned President’s Counsel for the 
Respondents before parting with this judgement. He has 
submitted that in terms of Section 45(3) of the Agrarian 
Services Act No. 58 of 1979, as subsequently amended, an 
entry made in the Agricultural Lands Register maintained 
under that Act is admissible as prima fade  evidence of the 
facts stated therein, and that accordingly, the entry made 
in the Agricultural Land Register, a certified extract from 
which was produced marked "Si”, in which the names of the 
Respondents appear as the landlords constitute prima fade 
evidence of their title to the land claimed by them as well as 
the fact of their possession thereof through a tenant cultivator. 
It is obvious that Section 45(3) of the said Act was not 
intended to extend to title to agricultural land, and that the 
presumption arising from the entries in "Si" with regard to 
the landlord and description of land is displaced in this case 
by the overwhelming evidence that the Respondents had 
never enjoyed possession of the land “Nilaththu Pattiyal” 
which had been possessed exclusively by the Appellants.

It is the name Hinni Appuhamy that appears in the 
extract marked "Si” as tenant cultivator for the ten years 
from 1979 to 1989, despite the alteration which the 
Respondents admittedly got done in 1988, by which the 
name of the 1st Appellant as landlord, and the description 
of the land as “Nilaththu Pattiyal” in extent 3 acres 2 roods 
and 26 perches, had been replaced by the names of the 
Respondents as landlords and description of the land
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as “Palugahakumbura” in extent 4 acres. Neither Hinni 
Appuhamy, nor any other witness, was called by the 
Respondents to establish that the paddy field cultivated by 
Hinni Appuhamy was in fact the four acre land to which the 
deeds PI and P3 to P6 related, and it is manifest that the 
alteration to the Agricultural Land Register effected in 1989 
was a calculated move by the Respondents to stake a claim 
to the land possessed by the Appellants on the basis that the 
said land was the same as what is described in the schedule 
to the petition and the schedules to the said title deeds, 
which fact however, the Respondents have failed to establish 
by evidence.

Conclusion

In all the circumstances of this case, I allow the appeal 
answering the substantive questions 1, 3, 4 and 5 on which 
special leave had been granted by this Court, in favour of the 
Appellants. I do not consider it necessary to answer substan­
tive question 2 . I would accordingly set aside the judgments 
of the District Court and the Court of Appeal, and make 
order dismissing the action filed by the Respondents in the 
District Court. I also award costs in a sum of Rs. 25,000/- 
payable to the Appellants jointly, by the Respondents jointly 
and severally.

J. A. N. DE SILVA, C.J. - I agree.

RATNAYAKE, J. - I agree. 

appeal allowed.




